ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The circuit court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent because: a) law and equity supplement West Virginia's Revised Uniform Partnership Act, meaning the lower court should have considered the conduct of the parties before determining that a partnership existed and b) there was no change in material evidence before the court after it had repeatedly denied summary judgment.
- 2) The circuit court erred to the extent that it entered an order against the individual Petitioners, jointly and severally.
- 3) In the event that a partnership did exist, the circuit court erred in finding that the valuation of Respondent's interest was \$1,010,000 because: a) it failed to consider all evidence regarding the value of the alleged business and b) it failed to consider that Carl Mascioli is first entitled to a settlement of his partnership account because of his contributions.
- 4) The circuit court erred in granting Respondent \$245,158.46 in attorney's fees because Petitioners acted in good faith in this matter and because the amount awarded is not equitable in proportion to the value at stake in this case.
- 5) The circuit court erred in determining that an oral offer of a jury trial was not supported as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an unfortunate family dispute over eight real estate properties purchased and maintained by Carl Mascioli. Three brothers—Carl, Albert, and Paul Mascioli—worked together for twenty years in their family's supermarket. Appendix 873. That was the full extent of any shared business relationship, though now, years later, LouAnn Mascioli, as the representative of the Estate of Paul Mascioli, claims there was something more. The facts underlying the issues span several decades of interactions and undertakings, making for a long, complicated history.

When the Mascioli brothers' father died, he left his supermarket, Shop n' Save, to Carl and Albert only, hoping that the eldest brother, Carl, who had never married, would take care of the youngest brother, Paul. In that vein, Carl brought Paul into the supermarket business in 1989. Appendix 886. Thereafter, in 1993, the three brothers, Albert's wife, and LouAnn Mascioli executed a buy-sell agreement to memorialize their rights in the supermarket business. Appendix 897.

Bringing Paul into the supermarket business was but one display of brotherly affection Carl showed his younger brothers, as he always worked hard knowing that Albert and Paul had families to support and he did not. Other examples include financing the supermarket with more of his life insurance than his brothers did, assuming debts of the supermarket, declining to accept profits from the supermarket between 1989 and 2010, and purchasing eight real estate properties between the years of 1989 and 2003. Appendix 885-91.

Carl purchased these properties solely with his funds and with the plan to leave them to his brothers when he died. Appendix 886. The only documents, receipts, and financing information available that show individual contributions to these eight properties show Carl's name. Appendix 1420. Appendix 885. While the properties are titled in the name of either

Mascioli Brothers Development or MBD Company, LLC, Carl did this with the thought that he might involve his brothers in future development of the eight properties. He never did.

In 2012, Paul passed away. Appendix 1421. Although Paul and Albert worked side-by-side with Carl in the supermarket for over twenty years, neither participated as a partner in any sort of real estate business. Neither questioned that Carl owned the eight properties. There was no partnership agreement. Neither made a claim as a partner-owner of the properties. Nor did Paul or Albert contribute to the value of the properties or make any decisions concerning the properties. Carl made all the decisions. Nor did the three brothers share any profits or losses. Significantly, Albert has testified that he believes no partnership existed among the brothers. Appendix 892. Albert's interests in this case are identical to Paul's.

Petitioners do not dispute that there were certain conveyances of utility easements, rights of way, etc. concerning a few of the properties. However, Respondent can point to only two transactions from 1989 to 2014 as examples of shared profits: a tax deduction from a land donation in 1992 and shared royalties in a mineral lease two years after Paul died. Appendix 894-95, 1420. Albert claims these were gifts from Carl as he believes he had no interest in the properties. Appendix 308. Likewise, Albert and Paul performed minor services regarding the eight properties, such as responding to telephone inquiries concerning the properties while Carl was working late nights at the supermarket. Appendix 885.

In spite of the above, LouAnn Mascioli, Paul's wife and representative of his estate, now claims that the brothers shared equally in a real estate partnership. She admits she has no knowledge concerning agreements the brothers may or may not have made. Appendix 535-36. She also demanded a business accounting from Carl even though neither Paul nor Albert kept such an accounting, no one believed an accounting was necessary, and no one requested an accounting during Paul's lifetime, from 1989 through 2012. Appendix 886.

Prior to the litigation, in hopes of resolving financial issues with the Respondent, Carl and Albert also agreed LouAnn Mascioli could receive \$583,000 under the life insurance policy as part of the buy-sell agreement. Appendix 889. This was \$183,000 more than the \$400,000 specified in the buy-sell agreement. Appendix 889, 897. Carl had already assumed more than \$300,000 in supermarket debt. Appendix 889. The parties also underwent mediation throughout the litigation period. Appendix 1.

The Circuit Court of Monongalia County, after considering all of the above facts, legal arguments, pleadings, and affidavits regarding the lack of shared profits, and lack of accounting by any party, either denied or withheld summary judgment on June 29, 2017, September 11, 2017, and March 27, 2018. Appendix at 442, 1203. Then, without any change in the material evidence before the circuit court, it granted summary judgment on the day of trial, July 10, 2018. Appendix 1441-42. The *Order Confirming the Entering of Plaintiff's Proposed Order* (the "Order") is against the alleged businesses, as well as Carl Mascioli and Albert Mascioli as individuals, jointly and severally. Appendix 1416. The hearing transcript suggests the lower court based its ruling on a claim of document spoliation—documents that pertained to the supermarket and were shredded while Paul was still living and still had access to the documents. Appendix 1655.

The circuit court granted summary judgment without a trial and without hearing the testimony of Albert or Carl. At the conclusion of a status/settlement conference on June 28, 2018, the circuit judge offered the parties a jury trial. Appendix 1244. This occurred even though the parties had previously stipulated to a bench trial. Appendix 1222. After reflection, Petitioners notified the lower court that they accepted its offer of a jury trial. Despite the offer and acceptance, the circuit judge found that her offer of a jury trial was not supported by law. Appendix 1428.

The valuation of the alleged partnership, \$3,030,400, was provided by a valuation expert retained by Respondent. The valuation was based solely on an appraisal of the eight properties without consideration of any other business factors. Appendix 1426. The amount awarded was \$1,010,000, or one-third of the valuation, which did not take into account any contributions of the brothers. Appendix 1427. The court also awarded Respondent \$245,158.46 in attorneys' fees. Appendix 1444. These amounts were determined without consideration of evidence or testimony from Carl or his personal accountant, Peggy Galloway, who reviewed all documents that exist pertaining to the eight properties. Facts in the record also show that Carl, unlike the other brothers who contributed nothing to the properties, paid \$1,156,000 to purchase the properties, as well as all taxes, insurance, repairs, and maintenance. Appendix 1089. Carl estimates his net contribution to be about \$725,000, not including interest, over the years. Appendix 1647.

The Petitioners thus appeal the Monongalia County Circuit Court's August 10, 2018 final Order. In addition to contesting summary judgment as a matter of law in this very complicated matter, Petitioners also contest the failure to credit Carl for his contribution, the judgment against Carl Mascioli and Albert Mascioli, jointly and severally as individuals, the valuation and award amounts, the award of attorneys' fees, and the denial of a jury trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because many genuine issues of material fact exist in this family dispute, the circuit court erred granting summary judgment. In eventually finding that a partnership existed between the three brothers—after repeatedly finding that this dispositive issue was debatable—the court ignored the importance of law and equity. West Virginia's Revised Uniform Partnership Act, ("RUPA") in its language, expressly states that law and equity supplement this chapter. W. Va. Code § 47B-1-4(a).

In this case, law and equity dictate that the Court should have considered the Mascioli brothers' conduct over twenty-three years before determining whether they carried on as coowners of a business and shared profits. The determination of this issue rests on the testimony and credibility of the two living brothers regarding what the brothers did and did not do, and this is a question for the trier of fact. Had the court considered their conduct as evidence, it would have necessarily found that a genuine issue existed as to whether the brothers ever shared business profits—the key component of a partnership under RUPA. W. Va. Code § 47B-1-1(7).

Moreover, the circuit court repeatedly stated that genuine issues exist in this case and twice denied summary judgment based on the same facts that rest before the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia today. Appendix 378, 442, 1200. The lower court apparently changed its mind based on no new information—and instead granted summary judgment on a faulty and belated claim of spoliation. Appendix 1402.

The circuit court also made multiple procedural and discretionary errors notwithstanding the faulty dispositive order. First, regarding the posture of the final order itself, the judgment should not have been against Carl Mascioli and Albert Mascioli as individuals. While individuals may be liable for partnership debts in relation to third parties, this case is among alleged partners, which is governed under W. Va. Code § 47B-7-1(a). This section does not speak to a judgment against individual partners, but only against the partnership, as is the case here.

Second, as to the amounts awarded, the court also wrongfully failed to consider evidence referenced in the record. When determining the valuation of the alleged partnership, the court should have considered information from Carl as to the value the eight properties upon Paul's death. Furthermore, Carl's contributions should have been taken into account because W. Va. Code § 47B-4-1(a) states that all partners are entitled to accountings upon the winding up of partnerships. Despite the lack of formality of Carl's proof of contributions, the proof is in the

record, and equity dictates that the circuit court should have considered it. Appendix 886-86. Moreover, it is patently unfair not to ask for an accounting from 1989 through 2012, and then demand documents that are no longer available.

Third, attorneys' fees should not have been awarded. The Petitioners acted only in good faith when defending their interests in this complex case spanning several decades. Merely defending their interests in this suit does not amount to bad faith behavior. *Yost v. Fuscaldo*, 185 W. Va. 493, 500, 408 S.E.2d 72, 79 (1991). Furthermore, had the circuit court taken into account the valuation and contribution testimony as it should have, it should have concluded that the amount of attorneys' fees awarded was unreasonable in proportion to the amount at stake in this controversy.

Finally, the circuit court erred in finding that a jury trial was not supported by law. Even though a waiver of jury trial was executed, the circuit court offered the Petitioners a jury trial and was fully within its discretion to do so. Appendix 1222; W. Va. R. Civ. P. 39. To make such an offer, which was accepted, and then change its mind the day before trial was unfair as a matter of policy and unjust as a matter of law.

Accordingly, in this appeal Petitioners contend that many genuine issues of material fact do exist in the case, and respectfully request this court to reverse summary judgment.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This appeal involves a family dispute involving a course of conduct among three brothers over twenty-three years. The threshold legal question is whether a partnership entity existed among the brothers as a matter of law. Petitioner believes that oral argument is appropriate under Rule 19 because the appeal involves assignments of error involving application of settled law and unsustainable exercises of discretion against the weight of evidence.

ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review.

On appeal, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia reviews a circuit court's final order and ultimate disposition under an abuse of discretion standard; challenges to findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard; and conclusions of law under a de novo standard. *W. Va. Dep't of Transp. v. Newton*, 235 W. Va. 267, 274, 773 S.E.2d 371, 378 (2015). "A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." *Sugar Rock, Inc. v. Washburn*, 237 W. Va. 347, 351, 787 S.E.2d 618, 622 (2016) (citing Syl. pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)).

Here, the following conclusions of law should be reviewed with a de novo standard: that summary judgment was proper as a matter of law, that the order was against individuals jointly and severally as a matter of law, and that Carl is not entitled to a settlement of his partnership account as a matter of law. The abuse of discretion standard is appropriate for the assignments of error regarding the awarding of attorneys' fees and the denial of a jury trial. Finally, a clearly erroneous standard is appropriate for findings of fact regarding the valuation of the supposed partnership and the amount of attorneys' fees awarded.

2. **There is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a partnership existed among the three Mascioli brothers.**

Summary judgment is only proper in cases where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the movant shows that she is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c). A summary judgment determination is based on "pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any." *Id.* "At the summary judgment stage, the trial judge's function is not himself to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." *Anderson v.*

Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2511, 91 (1986); *See also Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995).

Further, a party opposing the motion is entitled to have his or her version of the facts accepted as true and, moreover, to have all internal conflicts resolved in his or her favor. *Charbonnages de France v. Smith*, 597 F.2d 406, 414 (4th Cir. 1979). In reviewing the evidence, a court must neither resolve disputed facts nor weigh the evidence (*Russell v. Microdyne Corp.*, 65 F.3d 1229, 1239 (4th Cir. 1995), nor make determinations of credibility. *Sosebee v. Murphy*, 797 F.2d 179, 182 (4th Cir. 1986).

In this case, the circuit judge initially determined that genuine issues did exist when it denied two motions for summary judgment. Appendix 388, 422, 1204. The circuit court then changed its mind without any change in material evidence before it. Appendix 1418. This abrupt change in opinion is both unjust and wrong as a matter of law, and is not supported by or reflected in the record. Before ruling, the court should have considered relevant case law in addition to West Virginia's Revised Uniform Partnership Act ("RUPA").

Further, the pleadings, discovery, and affidavits show a genuine dispute exists on the threshold issue of whether a partnership existed between Carl, Albert, and Paul. The two living brothers steadfastly maintain, as supported in their affidavits, that no brother believed that a partnership existed. Appendix 851, 855. Their version of facts, which the court should have accepted as true, is contrary to summary judgment and should have been resolved by a trier of fact. Thus, for the various reasons set forth below, trial was the appropriate method for considering these facts and summary judgment was improperly granted.

A. The Summary Judgment Order does not accurately reflect the rulings of this Court regarding the law of partnership formation because law and equity supplement RUPA.

RUPA itself states that, “[u]nless displaced by particular provisions of [RUPA], the principles of law and equity supplement [RUPA].” W. Va. Code § 47B-1-4(a). Therefore, common law that is not expressly displaced by RUPA remains valid. In other words, RUPA is a “gap filler” to the extent that an agreement can be determined from the conduct of the parties.

The circuit court’s *Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* (“Order”) misstates and misapplies well-established West Virginia law regarding the formation of partnerships. The Order takes this Court’s language in *Valentine v. Sugar Rock* entirely out of context when it quotes this Court as stating that “any discussion regarding the ‘common law of general partnerships is purely historical and academic’ due to the legislature’s adoption of RUPA.” Appendix 1430. Here is the full quotation from *Valentine v. Sugar Rock*:

Hence, much of *the following discussion* on the common law of general partnerships is purely historical and academic. But understanding the primordial rules of general partnership law leads to an understanding of *how mining partnerships came to exist*, and why real property ownership by the partners is critical to the formation of a *mining partnership*.

Valentine v. Sugar Rock, Inc., 234 W. Va. 526, 534, 766 S.E.2d 785, 793 (2014) (emphasis added). Clearly, this Court was not stating that *any* discussion regarding the common law of general partnerships is purely historical and academic, but was in fact leading into a historical and academic discussion of how *mining partnerships* came to exist. *Id.* The distinction here is crucial.

Hence, Petitioners do not claim, and have never claimed, that RUPA is inapplicable. Petitioners merely presented a complete picture of West Virginia law regarding partnership

formation, including both RUPA and pertinent common law that remains valid because it has not been displaced by RUPA. Thus, as discussed below, the principals outlined in several of this Court's decisions are relevant in analyzing whether the three Mascioli brothers conducted themselves as a partnership.

For these reasons, the court erred because its Order does not accurately reflect this Court's commentary and rulings on the pivotal issue of partnership formation, that is, the sharing of profits and losses. Unless displaced by RUPA, a court must look to case law when evaluating if a partnership exists, and the circuit court failed to do so in this case. Thus, Respondent was not entitled to summary judgment.

B. The Circuit Court wrongly failed to consider the conduct of the Mascioli brothers over the course of twenty-three years when determining whether a partnership existed among them.

RUPA defines a partnership as "an association of two or more persons *to carry on as coowners a business for profit*. . . ." W. Va. Code § 47B-1-1(7) (emphasis added). The authorities suggest that sharing in profits and losses is the most important factor in determining whether a partnership was formed. Whether or not individuals carry on as coowners and share profits can only be determined by their actions. West Virginia's common law and statutes permit a partnership to be written, oral, or implied from the conduct and dealings of the partnership's members. Syl. pt. 2, *Duffield v. Reed*, 84 W. Va. 284, 99 S.E. 481 (1919) ("A Partnership, as to the parties thereto, springs from their intention, which need not be expressed in writing, but may be by oral agreement, or may be implied from their conduct and dealings with one another."); W. Va. Code § 47B-1-1(8).

Furthermore, the burden is on a plaintiff to prove the existence of a partnership when the existence of a partnership or the state of accounts of a partnership is disputed. *Hinkson v. Ervin*, 40 W.Va. 111, 20 S.E. 849 (1894). In proving the existence of a partnership, this Court teaches

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