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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Partnership's first assignment of error actually contains four separate assignments of error, all of which are defeated by the record and proper application of the law by the Circuit Court. (Pet'r's Br. at 1, 8-15). First, the Partnership posits that the Circuit Court erred by granting summary judgment because it failed to take into account the historical common law concerning the formation of partnerships. But the common law regarding the formation of partnerships was long ago displaced by statute in West Virginia, and is now governed entirely by the Revised Uniform Partnership Act ("RUPA") which has been incorporated into our Code. In any case, the Partnership fails to demonstrate how historical common law decisions apply to this matter in a way that might alter the Circuit Court's findings.

The Partnership next argues that evidence regarding the brothers' intent to create a partnership and their conduct over the years was not considered by the Circuit Court. (Pet'r's Br. at 2, 8-9). Although the Partnership presents this contention as if it were a disputed issue of fact, it actually is a conclusion of law, and therefore does not affect the Circuit Court's ability to resolve by summary judgment the issue of whether the Partnership was, in fact, a partnership as a matter of law. Furthermore, even a cursory review of the Circuit Court's Order reveals a detailed discussion regarding the conduct of the Partnership from 1989 through present, including the countless and undisputed ways in which the Partnership carried on as coowners a business for profit. (R. at 1418-1434). This "conduct" evidence was not ignored; to the contrary, it was the basis for the Circuit Court's finding that "The record is replete with evidence of these three brothers acting like a partnership." (R. at 1403). In applying the law to the undisputed facts, the Circuit Court appropriately concluded that a partnership was formed, despite whether the brothers intended to form a partnership. (R. at 1430).

The Partnership takes issue with the Circuit Court's granting summary judgment on the first day of trial, having denied the same motion several months earlier. Why the Partnership believes this constitutes reversible error is unclear. But in any case, Judge Tucker made it abundantly clear at the March 27, 2018, hearing on the "Motion for Summary Judgment" that she was inclined to grant the motion, which would have been only the second motion for summary judgment she had granted in nine years, but believed that the parties, who are family, should attempt to reconcile their differences and reach an agreement by settlement. (R. at 1171-1172, 1200). The Circuit Court repeatedly informed the Partnership that it had "problems" and should resolve this matter. (R. at 1171-1172). Instead of heeding the Circuit Court's warning, the Partnership trudged forward holding steadfast to the untenable position that a partnership never existed.

Ultimately, the Circuit Court granted Mrs. Mascioli's "Motion for Summary Judgment" when it became clear that the Partnership was unable to come forward with any issue of contested material fact. (R. at 1401-1403). In doing so, the Circuit Court noted: "I have concluded that my hesitation to grant summary judgment, based on historical rulings by the Supreme Court, is not enough to overcome the undisputed facts in this case." (R. at 1403). The Partnership's assertion that this ruling was an "abrupt change in opinion" is meritless, and the record makes that undeniable. (Pet'r's Br. at 9).

The Partnership's attempt to characterize the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment as a sanction for the alleged spoliation of evidence is plagued by a similar problem: the record unquestionably disproves it. (R. at 1402-1403). In fact, the only place the Circuit Court's order references the Partnership's shredding of documents is in paragraph 72 under the sub-heading "Defendants' Conduct." (R. at 1427.) The Circuit Court's reasoning for granting summary

judgment was not based on a claim of spoliation; it was based on overwhelming and undisputed evidence conclusively proving the existence of a partnership as a matter of law. (R. at 1418-1443).

The Partnership raised its assignment of error concerning joint and several liability for the first time after the order granting summary judgment had been entered by the Circuit Court. (R. at 1416-1417, 1616-1623). In any event, the law conclusively disposes of the argument that it was error to enter an order against Carl Mascioli and Albert Mascioli. (Pet'r's Br. at 9). The applicable statute plainly states that all partners are liable jointly and severally for all obligations of the partnership.

The Partnership's assignment of error concerning valuation and contribution is defeated by the record, which contradicts the factual premise for its argument. The RUPA gives the circuit court discretion to determine the buyout price of a dissociated partner's interest and any offset. The record demonstrates that the Circuit Court, in its sound discretion, considered the uncontested evidence regarding the value of the Partnership and determined the buyout price of the Paul Mascioli's Estate's interest. (R. at 1402-1403, 1418-1443). Furthermore, the Circuit Court cited and discussed the Partnership's argument concerning amounts due to Carl Mascioli, but rejected its unsupported "estimate" of those amounts. (R. at 1402, 1434-1438). The Partnership fails to show that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in determining the buyout price of the Paul Mascioli's Estate interest.

The Partnership's assignment of error concerning the award of attorney's fees and costs likewise is defeated by the record and the law. The Circuit Court explicitly found that the Partnership had acted arbitrarily, vexatiously, and in bad faith. (R. at 1404). Some of these findings were detailed in the order granting summary judgment. (R. at 1427). But regardless of

the Partnership's conduct, the RUPA expressly allows for an award of attorney's fees and expenses based solely on the partnership's failure to tender payment or an offer to pay. It is undisputed that the Partnership to this day has never tendered payment or offered to pay the Paul Mascioli Estate the statutorily required buyout of its interest. (R. at 1439). Therefore, the Circuit Court was within its sound discretion to award attorney's fees and expenses in this matter.

As for the amount of the attorney's fees and costs awarded, the Circuit Court carefully considered and followed the seminal test for determining the reasonableness of attorneys' fees and costs. There having been no objection to the hours expended or rates charged by Respondent's counsel, the Partnership fails to show that the Circuit Court committed plain error and abused its discretion in awarding attorney's fees and costs in the amount of \$245,158.46.

Finally, the Partnership argues the Circuit Court erred when it refused to call in a jury at the eleventh hour, even after both parties had stipulated to trial by the Circuit Court. (Pet'r's Br. at 23-24). The Circuit Court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment in this matter. Therefore, this assignment of error is moot.

For all these reasons, Mrs. Mascioli requests that the Court affirm the Circuit Court's ruling granting summary judgment in the Estate's favor.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is unnecessary in this case because the law regarding the issues presented is well-settled, the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record, and oral argument would not significantly aid the decisional process. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, then Respondent agrees with Petitioners that argument under W. Va. R. App. P. 19 is appropriate because the appeal involves assignments of error in the application

of settled law, and that the appeal is appropriate for disposition by memorandum decision under W. Va. R. App. P. 21.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Decision and Review.

Although the Partnership's description of the applicable standards of review is less than clear, it appears to acknowledge that the sole assignment of error to which a *de novo* standard applies is the assignment that challenges the propriety of summary judgment because of the alleged existence of a genuine issue of material fact. (Pet'r's Br. at 8.) The Court should note, however, that most of the argument that the Partnership has shoehorned into the section of its brief addressing that first assignment error *does not* challenge the propriety of summary judgment, but instead contests the Circuit Court's findings of fact. Findings of fact made by the Circuit Court are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. This distinction is more fully discussed below in the specific responses to the Partnership's arguments.

As the Partnership acknowledges, the Circuit Court's award of attorney's fees and costs⁷ and its decision to deny the Partnership's last-minute jury trial demand⁸ may be reversed only if this Court finds an abuse of discretion. (Pet'r's Br. at 8.) Likewise, the Circuit Court's

⁵ E.g., Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

⁶ E.g., Syl. Pt. 4, Burgess v. Porterfield, 196 W. Va. 178, 469 S.E.2d 114 (1996) ("We review challenges to findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard.")

⁷ E.g., Beto v. Stewart, 213 W. Va. 355, 360, 582 S.E.2d 802, 807 (2003) ("The decision to award or not award attorney's fees rests in the sound discretion of the circuit court, and the exercise of that discretion will not be disturbed on appeal except in cases of abuse.")

⁸ E.g., Syl. Pt. 1, McDougal v. McCammon, 193 W. Va. 229, 455 S.E.2d 788 (1995) (holding that a circuit court's rulings on procedural matters are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard).

determination of the buyout price for the Paul Mascioli Estate's share of the partnership, and its resolution of Carl Mascioli's offset claim, also take an abuse of discretion standard.⁹

B. The Partnership Has Failed to Identify Any Genuine Issue of Material Fact To Preclude the Circuit Court from Finding that a Partnership Existed as a Matter of Law.

The Partnership's brief to this Court employs an internally contradictory, shotgun approach to challenge the Circuit Court's decision to grant summary judgment. Although the Partnership titles its primary argument as if it offers up material challenges to the facts, it never actually identifies any specific fact with which it takes issue. (Pet'r's Br. at 9-10). The Circuit Court detailed its findings of fact over ten pages of its Order granting summary judgment. (R. at 1418-1427.) None of the facts spread across those ten pages were disputed before the Circuit Court, and none are disputed here. As acknowledged by the Partnership, "where the facts are undisputed, or susceptible of only one inference, the question as to whether a partnership exists between particular persons is one of law for the court." (Pet'r's Br. at 12).

Instead of pointing to a specific disputed fact that might have precluded summary judgment, the Partnership argues only that evidence regarding the brothers' intent to create a partnership and their asserted self-serving belief that a partnership did not exist create a genuine issue of fact that precluded summary judgment. (Pet'r's Br. at 3, 8-9). But that is wrong as a matter of law. Because the partners' subjective belief about the existence of a partnership is irrelevant under our law, their opinion on that point could not create a material dispute of fact—the only type of dispute that can preclude summary judgment. This Court has held on many occasions that a "material fact" on a motion for summary judgment is one that has the capacity to

⁹ Dixon v. Crawford, McGilliard, Peterson & Yelish, 262 P.3d 108, 111-12 (Wash. 2011) ("The [Revised Uniform Partnership Act] gives the court discretion to determine the buyout price of a dissociated partner's interest, and we will not disturb its decision absent abuse of that discretion.")

¹⁰ Pruitt v. Fetty, 148 W. Va. 275, 278-79, 134 S.E.2d 713, 716 (1964).

sway the outcome of litigation under applicable law.¹¹ "Factual disputes that are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be counted."¹²

RUPA, as adopted by our legislature and incorporated into West Virginia Code, defines a partnership as "an association of two or more persons to carry on as coowners a business for profit..." RUPA further provides that "the association of two or more persons to carry on as coowners a business for profit forms a partnership, whether or not the persons intend to form a partnership." As this Court has noted, under the RUPA definition of "partnership," "people operating a business together for profit 'may inadvertently create a partnership despite their expressed subjective intention not to do so." Given RUPA's resolution of the existence of a partnership without regard to the parties' intent, the Partnership's allegation that the Mascioli brothers did not intend to form a partnership, even if true, is not a material fact with bearing on the Circuit Court's ability to grant summary judgment.

The Partnership failed to come forward with any genuine issue of material fact as to whether a partnership existed between the brothers. Instead, it responded to the "Motion for Summary Judgment" with nothing more than commentary from counsel that found no support in the record, and self-serving, inconsistent "amended" affidavits focused on the alleged lack of intent to form a partnership. (R. at 871-896). Those amended affidavits conceded that Mascioli Brothers and MBD were formed, but merely denied that the brothers intended to create a partnership. (R. at 885-887). Likewise, in the briefing to this Court, the Partnership continues to argue that the belief of Carl and Albert that a partnership did not exist and their intentions are

11 Jividen v. Law, 194 W. Va. 705, 714, 461 S.E.2d 451 (1995).

¹² Id.

¹³ W. Va. Code § 47B-1-1(7).

¹⁴ W. Va. Code § 47B-2-2(a) (emphasis added).

¹⁵ Valentine v. Sugar Rock, Inc., 234 W. Va. 526, 540, 766 S.E.2d 785, 799 (2014) (quoting Allan Donn, Robert W. Hillman, & Donald J. Weidner, The Revised Uniform Partnership Act, § 202, Official Comments (Thompson Reuters 2014)).

controlling. (Pet'r's Br. at 9). But RUPA makes it clear that the intent or the belief of the parties is immaterial to determination of whether a partnership exists.¹⁶

As decided by the Circuit Court, the overwhelming and uncontested evidence is susceptible to only one inference: the Mascioli brothers formed Mascioli Brothers Development and carried on as partners and later, when MBD Company, LLC was administratively terminated, continued to carry on business as partners using the names Mascioli Brothers and MBD Company interchangeably. (R. at 1418-1434). The Partnership's assignment of error on this point is defeated by the record and the law. For these reasons, this Court should refuse to disturb the Circuit Court's ruling.

1. The Circuit Court Carefully and Properly Followed This Court's Precedent and the Revised Uniform Partnership Act in Granting Summary Judgment to The Estate of Paul Mascioli.

In its appeal to this Court, the Partnership complains that the Circuit Court's Order failed to properly apply the law to the undisputed facts because it did not take into account three turn-of-the-century pre-RUPA common law decisions regarding the mechanics of partnership formation. (Pet'r's Br. at 10-11). But the Partnership misses the fact that those "historical" decisions have little to do with current West Virginia law.

Our legislature adopted RUPA in 1995 to "govern[] all partnerships" in existence before, on, or after July 1, 1995.¹⁷ RUPA is a "gap filler" in that it only governs such partnerships when there is no partnership agreement or to the extent an agreement does not otherwise provide.¹⁸ The Partnership concedes that there is no partnership agreement between the brothers. (Pet.'r's Br. at 12).

¹⁶ W. Va. Code § 47B-2-2(a); Valentine, 234 W. Va. at 540, 766 S.E.2d at 799.

¹⁷ W. Va. Code § 47B-11-4.

¹⁸ Valentine, 234 W.Va. at 540, 766 S.E.2d at 799; W. Va. Code §47B-1-3(a).

The Partnership argues that the pre-RUPA case law cited in its brief is necessary to present "a complete picture of West Virginia law" as to whether a partnership was formed by the Mascioli brothers. But our contradictory common law concerning partnership formation has been entirely displaced by RUPA. ¹⁹ In *Valentine*, this Court distinguished the definition of a general partnership at common law and its statutory definition under RUPA. ²⁰ At common law, a general partnership was defined as "a contract relation between two or more competent persons who have combined their money, effects, labor and skill, or some or all of them, in a lawful joint enterprise, or business, for the purpose of joint profit. ²¹ But RUPA defines partnership as: "an association of two or more persons to carry on as coowners a business for profit. . . ²² RUPA describes in lucid language how a partnership is now formed in West Virginia:

the association of two or more persons to carry on as coowners a business for profit forms a partnership, whether or not the persons intend to form a partnership.²³

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